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A Foreword . ..

Over a period of four years, Mrs Joy Ellis researched and wrote a
book which she called “Country Ramblings in and around
Newborough, Staffordshire”. This was 20 years ago.

This year is the centenary of the Parish Council and the councillors
thought that it would be fitting that we ask Mrs Ellis if we could re-
publish her much loved book, with an update section, to which she
agreed.

Because some of the walks were no longer feasible, it was decided to
write a nearly-new account of the village. This would incorporate
Mrs Ellis’ research and words into the history and background of the
village and the points of interest on her walks into a tour along the
four roads of Newborough.

We asked people, who were involved, to write their own accounts
of village activities and the response to this request was very
gratifying. This edition therefore is a combined effort and really is a
“Newborough Book”.

So where is Newborough?

It is a village in Staffordshire and if you take the B5234 out of
Burton upon Trent and climb Henhurst to open country, you find
yourself on a plateau above the Vale of Trent. It seems nearly a land
on its own of wide fields and scattered woodland.

Crossing the A515 at Mitre cross roads (see the mitre on the cottage
there?), you climb again, turn a left-hand bend and there before you,
nestling along the banks of a volatile little stream called the ‘River’
Swarbourn, is Newborough - set in its very own wooded valley and
enclosed by rounded green hills.You couldn't find a better spot!

“Country Ramblings in and around Newborough” ended thus :
“Over to You”

“The snips of information within these pages are the culmination of
many hours of research and reading, which to date has taken nigh on
four years. | have treated it as a hobby which eventually resulted in
my making an 8mm cine film (now a video - Ed).

“All the facts and figures be they true or not, can be found by
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A Foreword

anyone who wishes to spend time in the local libraries and chatting
to the senior residents of the village. I am most grateful for all the
help given by everyone concerned and a handwritten book, published
by the W.1. in 1950, was of immense value to me.

“My family and I are now to return to our ‘Home County’ which is
Yorkshire, but we shall take with us happy memories of this pretty
village and our many friends. | feel, as our village is beginning to
grow once again and new people join the village community, with a
history such as ours, which to me has been most interesting,
someone, sometime will retread my steps to the libraries if | don’t set
down my findings.

“This is only a base, for | know that there are many more tales and
stories with which to embroider the years gone past. | tell of how
Robert de Ferrers’ “new borough of Agardsley” came to be and leave
the speculating and tales to you.”

Joy Ellis 1976.

We took up the challenge and what follows is the result. We took
Mrs Ellis” History as she wrote it and with the help of the ladies of
the W.1., we brought our own ‘history” up to date.

We wrote a tour of Newborough and mentioned some of the out-
lying farms and houses, using Mrs Ellis’ research again, together
with a few newer items of interest about the village.

Finally we have some walks for you that you can explore when you
spend a little more time in Newborough.

Jean Austin 1994.

History of Our Village
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So may we introduce ourselves with “Our History”

Once long ago . . .

3000 BC There is evidence of early men in Staffordshire in the
caves of Manifold Valley.

2000 BC Middle Stone Age man was in Cannock Wood.

2000 - Bronze Age in the Weaver Hills.
1800 BC

500 BC  Iron Age. Celtic immigrants with their tools came and
they built hill forts of which Castle Ring on Cannock
Chase and Berry Ring near Stafford are examples.

55BC Julius Caesar came to England but not to Staffordshire.

43 AD Emperor Claudius came with his Romans up the Fosse
Way and in. ..

48 AD ... the Romans came to Staffordshire.

Approx.

653 AD  Anglo Saxons penetrated Staffordshire possibly via the
Trent and it became part of Mercia (border area).
Independence came in the 7th century when Tamworth
was made the seat of Mercian government and Offa, king
of Mercia, had a palace at Tamworth.

King Wulfhere made Chad bishop of Mercians.

Wulfhere and his family built religious foundations in the
county, including a nunnery at Hanbury where his
daughter, Werburgh, became abbess and was buried there
in 700 AD.

874 AD  The Danes came, destroying Tamworth and making their
base at Repton. Their advance was checked at this point.
They were traders and used the rivers for their commer-
cial expeditions.

11th Century

1002 AD Many Danes were massacred in the Marchington area
when they renewed their attacks on the Mercians.
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History of Our Village

Newborough’s origins & the Forest of Needwood

11th Century (cont)

1016 AD Canute took Mercia and all England. He made Leofivine,
an Englishman, Earl of Mercia, then Leofric, his son,
after him.

1057 AD Leofric died at Kings Bromley.
1066 AD Battle of Hastings when the Normans came to England.

1069 AD Staffordshire joined a rebellion against William, the new
king, and there was a battle at Stafford where the rebels
were defeated.

1070 AD William came again to Staffordshire to stamp out rebels,
destroying the countryside on his way, and a castle was
built at Stafford to deter more rebels.

1071 AD Edwin, Earl of Mercia, died in the course of a revolt
against the Normans.

William now had his crown and so he gave four of his
followers, of whom Henry de Ferrers was one, land in the
region, Henry owned the castle at Tutbury and made this
his headquarters.

The town grew around the castle and by 1086 it was a
market town. He founded a Benedictine Priory at Tutbury
in 1080. Robert de Ferrers was Henry’s son.

1086 AD A survey of William’s kingdom was carried out, resulting
in the Domesday Book. 3,100 heads of household were
listed in Staffordshire.

Domesday describes the manor of Edgareslege (later to
become Newborough) as being owned by a Saxon
named Uluric.

Edgareslege or Edarslei is thought to have been land be
longing to Edgar and the Saxon suffixes ‘lege’, ‘lee’ and
‘lei” all mean ‘pasture’. At a later date the name became
‘Agardsley’ and this is still preserved to this day.

Newborough’s origins & the Forest of Needwood

“The word “forest’ did not necessarily mean trees, but rough country
used for royal hunting ground. Needwood was a private chase until
the Duke of Lancaster became king of England as Henry 1V in 1399,
when it then became a forest with its own special laws. Poaching
within the forest was not allowed and officials were employed to
look after these areas. Each forest had a head forester or warden, a
ranger, a surveyor who kept the axe, a knave who blew the horn,
lieutenants and keepers.

“The deer for hunting were kept within enclosed parks. In Needwood
forest there were ten parks : Castle, Stockley, Barton, Agardsley,
Hanbury, Rowley, Rolleston, Castle Hay, Shireholt and Highlands.

“Needwood was divided into four wards : Tutbury, Barton, Yoxall
and Marchington, each having its own lodge : Byrkley Lodge,
Sherholt Lodge, Yoxall Lodge and Elands Lodge respectively.

“The ten parks had twenty gates : Callingwood, Tatenhill, Dunstall,
Barton, Blakenhall, Wood Lane, Wood Mill, Hadley End, Mustard
Maker’s Lane, Raven’s Nest, Dole Foot, Moat Lane, Duffy Lane,
Tomlinson’s, Buttermilk Hill, Stubby Lane, Draycott, Hanbury,
Woodend, Blackbrook and Anslow.

“In 1798 Shaw wrote that the forest was 9,220 acres and in 1851
Wm. White lists 9,437 acres. Lots of holly (which was used for
winter feed for the deer) and oak trees grew in the area.

“If a person could build a hearth in one day, they were able to claim
squatter’s rights in years gone by. Forest law was distinct from other
Parliamentary law of the land, as all forests belonged to the king.
Within the forests were villages and pastures, land which people had
claimed in this way.

“Therefore, as the site of Newborough, Agardsley, was within the
forest, it came under forest law, with the forest enclosures which
people had claimed known as ‘assarts’. The Royal Forest offered the
peasant pasture for their cattle and swine, and timber for building and
fuel. All the local settlements of this area used the forest and in the
12th century, the making of new cultivated land became the fashion.
These encroachments were permitted in return for rents or fines.
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Newborough’s origins & the Forest of Needwood

“Farming in this period was frequently co-operative. The lands of in-
dividual farmers were intermixed with each other, in small parcels of
often no more than half an acre. Varying types of tenants had various
bonds to the landowner. In the 12th and 13th centuries the landown-
ers, to increase the prosperity of their estates, marked out several
areas of the borough to encourage tradesmen to settle.

“It was in the early 12th century that Robert de Ferrers formed his
“New Borough of Agardsley”. A charter, in which he called it his
“free borough of Agardsley”, granted parcels of land for building and
development to 101 burgesses. Robert at this time also created the
boroughs of Uttoxeter and Tutbury.

“The burgesses were given liberties of common pasture, ‘pannage’
(acorns and beechmast for swine feed) and ‘estovers’ (allowances of
wood in the forest). They were to be free of all tolls, and might have
four roads through the borough of uniform width - other roads are
thought to have originated as forest tracks.

“They could grind their corn at the lord’s mill and had permission to
have an oven in which to bake their own bread. In return, each bur-
gess had to pay an annual rent of eightpence and for hay and enclos-
ures, for every ox, one penny, and the same for each horse,
payable at the feast of St. Michael.

“The burgesses were now free men and appear to have been mainly
engaged in the weaving of linen, the River Swarbourn being favour-
able for bleaching.

“The ambitious scheme of Robert de Ferrers developed into a flour-
ishing place and so Newborough was born as such.”

Joy Ellis

History of Our Village . . . cont

12th Century

1120 AD Old records give reference to the de Ferrers and to flax
growing and weaving at Newborough.

History of Our Village
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12th Century (cont)

1121 AD There is mention of Tutbury Priory and the hermits at
Agardsley.

1139 AD The founder of the village of Newborough died.

1141 AD Robert, son of Robert de Ferrers, gave all the tithes of
Newborough to Tutbury Priory.

13th Century

1265 AD This was the time of the deforestation and forest charter
in the reign of Henry Ill, so the de Ferrers rounded up
some of the wild cattle of the Needwood area and
enclosed them, making the foundations of the famous
Chartley herd.

The de Ferrers lost their land about this time, joining as
they did with Simon de Montfort against the king.

1272 AD Edward | was now king and the estates were returned to
his son Edmund, Earl of Lancaster. It was Edmund’s son,
Thomas, who set about rebuilding the castle at Tutbury.

1278 - Alienora, widow of Robert de Ferrers, sued Edmund in

1279 AD court for a third of the land in the Staffordshire estates -
including Newborough - as her dower, which she claimed
he held only in pledge. She later withdrew her claim.

14th Century

1307 - Reign of Edward Il. First mention of a ‘Chapel of
1327 AD Ease’ at Hanbury.
1309 - Record of land being reclaimed at Newborough, on the

1310 AD grounds that the service due to the land had not been
performed for over two years.

1311 AD Tutbury estates were leased to Robert de Whitfield.

1322 AD Thomas, Edmund’s son, quarrelled with the king,
Edward II, and joined the Scots. He planned a
confrontation with the king at Burton Bridge, but the
king outwitted him by fording the river at Walton.
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History of Our Village

1322 AD .

1324 AD

1327 AD

1327 -
1377 AD

1332 AD

1346 AD
1337 AD
1379 -

1386 AD
1385 AD

1399 AD

. Thomas was caught and executed, but the money that he

had left with the prior with which to pay his soldiers was
missing. There was a considerable scandal as it was
found that other items were unaccounted for (see 1831
for the end of this tale!).

It is believed that the lands then passed to Humphrey,
Thomas’s son.

Walter Waldeschef recovered seven and a half acres of
land from sixteen tenants in Newborough as services due
had not been performed.

Subsidy Roll - when eighteen names appeared on the roll
for Neuburgh, this being the common spelling of
Newborough at the time.

Reign of Edward Ill. The manor of Agardsley passed,
along with the village of Newborough, to Peter de Pole.
Peter’s forefathers came over with William the
Conqueror and had lived at first in Derbyshire at
Hartington.

He married Elizabeth, heiress of the Chandos family, and
thus he became Lord Radbourne. The family home then
became Chandos Pole and they owned several properties
in Newborough - one of which was Moat Hall.

Subsidy Roll - with fourteen names listed for
Newborough.

French Roll - Mention of a Thomas de Neuburgh.
John de Pole granted land to several people.

Reference of military service performed by knights
with letters of attorney in the name of John de Pole of
Newborough.

Tutbury records give references to the chapel of
Newborough.

The Duke of Lancaster became Henry 1V and Needwood
then became a royal forest.

History of Our Village
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15th Century

1406 AD

1413 AD

1420 AD

1492 AD

Sir Nicholas Montgomery was Woodmaster in
Needwood and also the Agardsley Parker.

The abbot of Burton sued Thomas Talbot of Newborough
for cutting down trees at Bromley to the value of 100

shillings.

A Julian Walker of Newborough was sued for uprooting

trees, and there is reference to three men sued for de-
pasturising sheep and cutting down trees.

Henry VII prohibited hunting in the Forest of Needwood
as excessive hunting and poaching had reduced the
quantity of game.

16th Century

1500 -
1600 AD

1509 -
1547 AD

1539 AD

1585 AD

There are many records of dwelling houses and land in
Newborough changing hands.

Reign of Henry VIII. Sir William Holls, who was the
Lord Mayor of London, held land here. 2762 acres of
land, 770 inhabitants and 158 houses are recorded. The
manor then passed to the family of Tranhorne.

Muster roll called by Henry VIII on the threat of action
by France. Newborough is listed as having :

e 38 able men;

« 16 pikes;

e 4 bows and 4 sheaths of arrows;

* 5 horses and a few bits of armour.

Queen Mary* set out from Chartley on the trip to
Fotheringay where in 1586 she was executed. It is
believed that on the journey, the party rested at Abbots
Bromley in Pagets House before continuing on via
Burton to Ashby. Did she pass through our village?

(* Mary, Queen of Scots, had been imprisoned in
Tutbury Castle, one of many houses of confinement.
Never an easy guest for her gaolers, here she complained
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History of Our Village

1585 AD .

. bitterly about the damp and her rheumatics. Could she

then have ridden out in the forest?).

17th Century

1603 AD

1608 AD
1616 AD

1632 AD

1638 AD

1640 AD

1642 AD

1645 AD

1646 AD

About this time there are many records of christenings
and marriages here at Newborough.

George Agard of Newborough died.

Sir Walter Bagot, owner of a glassworks in Bagot’s
Wood, Abbots Bromley, complained of the effects of the
glass monopoly on his business.

Quarter Sessions - Henry Acton of Newborough, ale-
house keeper, was in trouble on four counts : for
drunkenness, gambling, fighting and roughness going on
in his house. The alehouse was closed.

Humphrey Watson and his family were turned out of
their house by Sir Charles Egerton for they were
destitute.

At this time a meeting was held about the rate assess-
ments, which were too high. Villagers complained about
these rates which were all paid to the church.

Muster - Only three names appear on the Muster for
Newborough and Hoar Cross.

Petitions re paupers’ houses on waste ground. After much
discussion, the houses were pulled down and the
inhabitants turned out.

Civil War broke out. Houses near Uttoxeter, of people
who refused to join the Royal army, were burned down.

Uttoxeter and Burton were in the hands of the royalist
forces. Local villages at this time were constantly
involved with supplies and payment towards the support
of the army.

Tutbury, Lichfield and Dudley garrisons surrendered to

the Parliamentary army, who ordered Tutbury castle to be
pulled down. Local villages helped with this work and

those who refused were fined.

History of Our Village
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17th Century (cont)

1651 AD

1657 AD

1666 AD

1670 AD

Charles Il invaded with his Scottish army, but was
defeated and thought to have fled through this area.

(This was the battle of Worcester, so geographically it is
doubtful that Charles would come this way. It could have
been one of the many ‘red herrings’ that led the
Roundheads away from the true ‘trail’).

Isobel, widow of Henry Langford of Newborough -
a Royalist Lieutenant - asked for help.

Date* inscribed on the oldest of the church bells.
(* ? in celebration of the Restoration ).

Hearth Tax - For Newborough, Hoar Cross and Hamstall
Ridware - 117 houses were taxed, but of these 47 people
were too poor to pay.

18th Century

1778 AD
1787 AD
1797 AD

1798 AD

An attempt was made to close down the forest.
The date on one of the church bells.

The manor had by this time passed to Earl Talbot, who
married into the Ingestre family of Chetwynd. The
Chetwynd-Talbots were in possession for many years.

Shaw, the historian, wrote that a factory at Tamworth
employed many hands at Newborough to the bleaching
and weaving of linens.

19th Century

1801 AD

1818 AD
1831 AD
1834 AD

Inclosures Act or the dividing of the Forest of
Needwood.

William White’s directory of Staffordshire.
Money lost in 1333 found in the mill race at Tutbury.

William White’s directory mentions Earl Talbot’s manor
of Agardsley of which Mr Thomas Kirkpatrick Hall is the
lessee.
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History of Our Village

Milk Market - The Green - circa 1900

The Village in the 1990s

1837 AD
1838 AD

1851 AD

1857 AD
1861 AD
1862 AD
1865 AD

1868 AD

1874 AD

1876 AD
1885 AD

1891 AD
1894 AD
1899 AD

The old church was enlarged and repaired.

The tithe map of Newborough mentions Whitenings Yard
and Winking Nannys.

William White’s History and Gazetteer.
Methodist Chapel built at Newborough.
The date on one of the church bells.

A population of 788.

Newborough Parish formed.

Mr Thomas Kirkpatrick Hall died. His son, Lorenzo
Kirkpatrick Hall, acquired the land from the Lords of
Ingestre and he became squire of the village.

An organ which was built for the Kirkpatrick Hall family
of Hollybush Hall is now in the present church at
Newborough.

Population now 750 and area of 2970 acres - thought not
to include Brick Kiln and Thorney Lanes.

Mary Ann Kidd of Newborough was murdered at Lower
Hoar Cross, whilst walking to Yoxall to purchase lace
with which to trim a christening gown that she was
making. Her grave is to be found in the graveyard.

The girls’ and the boys’ schools joined.

Eight small children were rescued when the premises of
Mr C Merry caught fire. Three horse-driven brigades
raced to the village.

The new school house was built.
The first Parish Council was formed.
The foundation stone of the present church was laid.

20th Century

1901 AD

The present church was opened. Sir Arthur Sullivan is
reputed to have played the organ in 1910.

Population of 566.
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